ENGLISH TEXT AND COMMENTARY

TITLE SEQUENCE:

1.BLOND WOMAN ON STREET


At least we have achieved our aim of getting rid of the foreigners. 

2.WOMAN ON STREET


Saturday and Sunday, that was good against the foreigners, I found that okay,....

3.TWO GIRLS ON STREET


You can't get them out by any other means.

PROGRAMME START:

NARRATOR 


Rostock is an old Hansa town on the Baltic coast of what was, until 1989, the self proclaimed Communist and anti-fascist  state of the GDR.

FILM


Our gate to the world. On the Eve of the first of May the first section of the new Rostock harbour was opened.

NARRATOR 


As East Germany's 'Gateway to the World' 55,000 people were employed in the fishing and shipbuilding industries.

FILM 


They have, despite extremely difficult conditions, done an excellent job in record time.

NARRATOR 


Today the docks are dead. All the business has moved to Hamburg in exchange all the Hamburg businessmen come to Rostock.


August 24th 1992 on the Lichtenhagen estate, Rostock. A Refugee Hostel and the home of Vietnamese Guest workers was petrol bombed and attacked by fascists while over 3,000 spectators stood by, clapped and encouraged the action. The attack took place at a time in Germany when fascist brutality and violence had become part of everyday life. By August 1992, seventeen people had been murdered by fascists.


Lichtenhagen Estate was one of the newest and remotest estates they call the 'ghettos' that spread out from the centre of Rostock. 

CAPTION:

No 19 Mecklenburg Allee

Home to 130 Vietnamese guest workers


At No19 Mecklenburg Allee live the Vietnamese guest workers, they had lived on the estate for the past ten years. 


Formerly employed as cheap labour by the DDR government.

CAPTION:

No18 Mecklenburg Allee

ZAST

Central Reception Centre For Refugees


Next door number 18 Mecklenburg Allee was the Central Reception Centre for Refugees, known as the ZAST, which was set up in the summer of 1991.


Nobody could say they weren't warned.....


Since April 92 leaflets were distributed throughout the estates of Rostock by the Hamburger Liste Auslander Stop, 


allied with the extreme right wing National Democratic Party of Germany.


They called for the foundation of a citizen's initiative "Keep Rostock German' with the agenda of standing for the 1994 local elections.


On 13th June 92 the DeustcheVolksUnion and Dr. Gerhard Frey, a leading right-wing publisher and property speculator came to Rostock to aid the establishment of a local branch of the party.

CAPTION:

13th June 1992

Demonstration against DeustcheVolksunion meeting.


Anti-Fascists organised actions and a counter demonstration against the meeting. 220 well equipped police brutally cleared the streets. Twenty two people were arrested.


The first clear warning of a fascist attack in Lichtenhagen came four days before, on the 21st August, with an anonymous phone call to the Ostsee Zeitung, a local newspaper.


Under the headline People of Lichtenhagen want to Protest on the streets the article contained direct and violent threats.


"We'll be here on Saturday, the Romanian Roma will be chucked out on their arses".


"The right have had enough" says Thomas, "and you will see the people look out of their windows and clap their hands."

4.HERR MAGDANZ SENATOR FOR THE INTERIOR ROSTOCK CITY COUNCIL

CAPTION: 

Peter Magdanz

Senator For The Interior

Rostock City Council


Of course I had the information that there was an anonymous call to a newspaper, but nothing was said about a direct attack, it was unclear wording.


What do you mean by plans? There was a level of preparation due to this anonymous phone call but, as I said in detail, sorry.

5.HERR KORDUS CHIEF OF ROSTOCK POLICE.

CAPTION:

Siegfried Kordus

Chief Of Police

Rostock

(Until August 25th 1992)


The fact that people demonstrate cannot and must not cause the police to immediately stand in front of every possible door with helmets and shields. Since what happened here, even though it should have been registered under the assembly laws, reflects the wishes of the citizens, something they wanted to make public.


I see an announcement like this in the same way as a call to take part in a lantern or torch-light procession against violence towards foreigners. It was an initiative, the origins of which we've not been able to locate yet.

6.BOY ON STREET/LICHTENHAGEN ESTATE RESIDENT.

CAPTION

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


In the last few days there have been all sorts of groups distributing leaflets, and there was a citizens' initiative declaring "Keep Rostock German!".


I didn't really read it all the way through because I can't really support these people, I just read:"Should the foreigners stay here and take your home away from you?" and all sorts of trash like that. But I just crumpled it up and threw it away. Stuff like that doesn't interest me.

CAPTION: SATURDAY 22. AUGUST 1992 11.00am-22.00

NARRATOR 


It was a Saturday in August like any other except that everyone knew that something was going to happen. The timing was crucial, the Central Reception Centre for Refugees, the ZAST, was to be relocated in one week anyway. 


Even though it was August that weekend there were an extraordinary number of officials who were absent and therefore deputised by less experienced people. 

CAPTION:

Klaus Kilimann

Mayor Of Rostock


The Mayor, Herr Killimann was replaced by Herr Zoellick Senator for Youth, Health and Sport.

CAPTION:

Herr Zoellick

Senator for Youth Health and Sport

Rostock City Council


The Senator for the Interior, Herr Magdanz, though officially on holiday, was not replaced.

CAPTION:

Peter Magdanz

Senator For The Interior

Rostock City Council


Herr Kordus,Rostock Chief of Police Herr Kordus was only a temporary stand in until the new Chief of Police was to take his post the day after the riots.

CAPTION:

Siegfried Kordus

Chief Of Police

Rostock


Kordus' Deputy Chief of Police, Herr Deckert was also away that day. Before he left on Friday night he put a note under the windscreen of his deputy Herr Trotnow asking him to take command.

CAPTION:

Herr Deckert

Assistant Chief Of Police

Rostock


Although the authorities did not take the threats of a fascist attack seriously others did. Inside the hostel Vietnamese and anti-fascists filmed.

7.NGUYEN DO THINH

CAPTION:

Ngyuen Do Thinh

Vietnamese Community Leader


On Saturday I wanted to do the shopping in Lichtenhagen and to look after my countrymen and I saw that people were gathering, at first only harmless looking youngsters.

8.CARSTEN, ANTI-FASCIST.

CAPTION:

Carsten

Rostock Anti-fascist


We agreed together with the foreigners' commissioner to be in the house just to be able to help in case of an emergency. Another idea was to try to record what was likely to happen

9.OLE, RIOTER

CAPTION:

Ole

Rioter


Nobody knew about it in advance, I went there with a friend and at the beginning one or two people vented their anger, as it had been trapped inside for a long time, but nothing happened just crap. 

10.MARFALDA, LICHTENHAGEN ESTATE RESIDENT

CAPTION:

Marfalda

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


When the crowd gathered we were still convinced it would be a protest demo, a peaceful demonstration by the citizens....

11.WERNER,LICHTENHAGEN ESTATE RESIDENT

CAPTION:

Werner

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


I watched it all right from the beginning from the balcony. I had mixed feelings about the whole thing because on the one hand I saw the foreigners were there, more and more came. As long as they stayed in the house everything was okay, I thought that's the way it had to be.


But I thought that the politics were wrong and when they started to throw stones, I thought, my God, such violence. I am really against it, and I kept away from it. And then the police came... there weren't many of them.

12.MARFALDA, LICHTENHAGEN ESTATE RESIDENT


I went down, and I talked to a policeman from Schwerin and said, I'm here in order to show you that I can't bear this any longer. Something has to happen.

13.HERR RICHTER, FOREIGNER'S COMMISSIONER ROSTOCK CITY COUNCIL.

CAPTION:

Wolfgang Richter

Foriegners Commissioner

Rostock City Council


At approximately 8.00 pm, I spoke to Mayor Zoellick, the acting mayor at that time, and asked him to come to Lichtenhagen where the people had gathered.

CAPTION:

Fascist Organisers

14.HERR ZOELLICK, ACTING MAYOR, SENATOR FOR YOUTH, HEALTH AND SPORT

CAPTION:

Herr Zoellick

Acting Mayor of Rostock

22nd-24th August 1992

ZOELLICK
The law has to be changed!

CROWD
Exactly!

ZOELLICK
It has to be made very clear, those who are prosecuted religiously or politically we are prepared to let into Germany.

CROWD
Exactly!


ZOELLICK


For the others we have to find regulations. The crises in their countries have to be solved.

CROWD
Those people who come here......that will take ten years!

ZOELLICK
But those who are here are people aren't they?

CROWD
People? They're not people! Take that shit away

15.THINH, VIETNAMESE COMMUNITY LEADER


When it started to get dark, adults appeared too and by looking at them one could tell that 95% of them were right radicals.

NARRATOR 


Under Article 16 of the German constitution a person politically or religiously persecuted may enter Germany. The right of political asylum is not automatic, refugees must apply and endure a lengthy and bureaucratic process. Even if allowed to stay, under Article 116 they, their children and their children's children remain foreigners.

CAPTION:

No 18 Mecklenburg Allee

ZAST

Central Reception Centre For Refugees


ZAST, the Central Reception Centre for refugees in Lichtenhagen was simply the first step. People had to wait outside for days without food or money before being registered and then sent to other hostels. 

16. HERR SCHMIDT LICHTENHAGEN BUSINESSMAN

CAPTION:

Herr Schmidt

Local businessman

No 19 Mecklenburg Allee

Lichtenhagen Estate


At that time the asylum seekers' hostel at number 18 was hopelessly overcrowded, the people had to stay somewhere.


It even went so far, that on rainy days the asylum seekers were lying here in the tunnel en masse and we had to step over them to get to our office. That's the sad truth.

17.HERR MAGDANZ SENATOR FOR THE INTERIOR, ROSTOCK CITY COUNCIL

CAPTION:

Peter Magdanz

Senator For The Interior

Rostock City Council


It was not like that. There had always been people outside, a lot of problems were caused by people who were outside in the daytime, who actually had accommodation.

18.STOYAN (ROMANIAN)

CAPTION:

Stoyan

Romanian Roma Refugee


I was there. There were many Gypsies, only Gypsies, everything around was full. We had literally no place to sleep. It was disastrous,  so many people, I was frightened by what I saw and I asked: Why are you all outside? I was told that they couldn't get asylum any more.Others were there with sick children, we were humiliated, we were hungry and dirty, we wanted some warmth and a place where we could look after our children.

19.ANKA (ROMANIAN)

CAPTION:

Anka

Roumanina Roma Refugee


The people from the ZAST in Lichtenhagen said, when someone arrived and asked for asylum- a family or a single person- that Germany won't grant asylum for Romanians any more and they didn't know why. They left the people outside for 2 or 3 days, or even one week. The same would have happened to me if my daughter hadn't had a high temperature and had to see a doctor. The doctor said that I had to go into the house.

20.WOMAN STREET INTERVIEW, LICHTENHAGEN ESTATE RESIDENT

CAPTION:

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


No, I mean I have no power, they might hear me but nothing gets done. Everyone saw the conditions here. I myself also complained about it when I saw it because I found it really terrible when people slum around, but they were forced to slum around. They had no toilets and no place to sleep. They had to sleep on the grass.

21.SECURITY GUARDS AND WARDEN OUTSIDE REFUGEE RECEPTION CENTRE


Get out! Get out of here!, No asylum!

22.MAN STREET INTERVIEW LICHTENHAGEN ESTATE RESIDENT

CAPTION:

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


I came here when I was 8 as a refugee, and I was welcomed. I mean, people took care of us, even with the war on, I got at least the basic essentials given to me. But what happened here - I drive past every day on the way to work - refugees arriving here at night and having to camp on the grass because the doors are locked and not being able to relieve nature..., you know, it wasn't even like that in 1945, after so many years of war. But those who are responsible can be counted on the fingers of one hand, even a child would know who was responsible.

NARRATOR 


Because Rostock housed the ZAST the city only needed to take half the number of political refugees.

23.HERR KILIMANN MAYOR OF ROSTOCK CITY COUNCIL

CAPTION:

Klaus Kilimann

Mayor of Rostock


The county of Mecklenburg Vorpommern is responsible for the accommodation of the asylum seekers.

INTERVIEWER
So the City of Rostock has nothing to do with that?

KILLIMANN
 No.

24.HERR KUPFER MINISTER FOR THE INTERIOR COUNTY OF MECKLENBURG VORPOMMERN

CAPTION:

Lothar Kupfer

The Interior Minister

Mecklenburg Vorpommern

Regional Government


Concerning the ZAST?! ZAST is an institution, the legal status of which is set in the regional law. According to the present law, the Lord Mayor of Rostock is responsible

25.HERR MAGDANZ SENATOR FOR THE INTERIOR ROSTOCK CITY COUNCIL

CAPTION:

Peter Magdanz

Senator For The Interior

Rostock City Council


The ZAST is an institution of Mecklenburg Vorpommern and so is the responsibility of the regional government. So I think that the Minister of Interior is the responsible person.

26. HERR SCHMIDT LICHTENHAGEN BUSINESSMEN


Now I can only say that the letter we sent to the Minister of Interior was answered. He told us that there would be a change by the 31st of August. And he kept his promise. Something changed. But before the 31st, on the weekend when the right radical scene tried to draw the attention to this problem by their means.

27. HERR KUPFER

CAPTION:

Lothar Kupfer

The Interior Minister

Mecklenburg Vorpommern

Regional Government


Mecklenburg Vorpommern is not a hostile county for foreigners, take the Rostock and Greifswald universities, the towns where violent assaults have occurred, as an example. My daughter is studying medicine in Rostock together with students from Iran and Israel. There are even people from Central Africa living in the students' hostel, and there are no conflicts between Germans and the foreigners

28.RAIKRIOTER

CAPTION:

Raik

Rioter


As long as the foreigners behave well, clean and decent and pay their taxes in our country, I have nothing against them, but if one sees how they behave in Lichtenhagen I can't accept them.

29.DAVID RIOTER

CAPTION:

David

Rioter


The older people who applauded just wanted to regain a clean Lichtenhagen. But I am fighting for a clean Germany. I have nothing against the Turks who have lived here for 20 or 30 years, we can not get rid of them. That's alright. In principle they have to stay as they have built their lives here, their pizzerias, but the people who come here just for a better life this is not the solution.

30.MAN AND WOMAN STREET INTERVIEW

CAPTION:

Lichtenhagen Estate Residents


If they drive around in a Mercedes then I would send them back immediately, and not allow them asylum. The Vietnamese here all drive Audis.

31.MAN IN TUNNEL

CAPTION:

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


Are you trying to say that Romanians are political refugees? Or Gipsies, Sinti and Roma are politically persecuted? Don't make me laugh, they're pure economic refugees, who want our prosperity, our prosperity - wait a minute...

CROWD
What if you hadn't enough food? You can go shopping at "Spar" everyday!

MAN IN TUNNEL


Then they should do something about it in their countries. Germany's got 80 million people, we can't feed the whole world here, let's make that clear!

CROWD
Why didn't you build up the GDR then?

MAN IN TUNNEL


What's that? What's that?

32.RICHTER

Wolfgang Richter

Foriegners Commissioner

Rostock City Council


When people talk about economic parasites, for me that's a situation where Asylum seekers are declared to be free prey. If one doesn't eventually think of co-operation between all forces that want to avoid fascism in this country, I don't see any way to get out of this situation of only reacting to acts of violence.

NARRATOR

CAPTION:

Gelbensande 

Refugee Home 

Rostock


Gelbensande, a refugee home in Rostock, like many homes it is isolated. It is one of three refugee homes in Rostock where people registered in Lichtenhagen were sent.

33.ANKA (ROMANIAN)

CAPTION:

Anka

Romanian Roma Refugee


The reason why I left Roumania was because my family opposed the regime, all the time my family had problems with the police. They always did house searches and at work I was harassed and dismissed.

34.STOYAN (ROMANIAN)

CAPTION:

Stoyan

Romanian Roma Refugee


I came to Germany as an asylum seeker and I applied for political asylum and I hope they grant me political asylum. As far as I can remember -us Gipsies- we always have been hurt and humiliated. We couldn't live, we had no place to go to, we had no place to build a house, no rights, no work, we couldn't work anywhere and we were forced by law to be nomads. I want to find peace for my soul and sympathy. I don't want to disturb anybody. I want to live as every other human being does with the right of freedom. That's what I wanted that in Romania and that's the reason why I had to leave Roumania.

CAPTION:SATURDAY 22 AUGUST. 22.00 -06.00

35.HERR RICHTER FOREIGNERS' COMMISSIONER ROSTOCK CITY COUNCIL

CAPTION:

Wolfgang Richter

Foriegners Commissioner

Rostock City Council


When we became more under threat and there was a danger that the few policemen present were about to be driven out by the rioters and they could have forced their way into the building, I phoned at about 11.00p.m.the police station in Luetten Klein, and spoke to Herr Trotnow he told me that there were no more police back-up available because they were in service, in Stralsund for instance...but that two water canons were being brought here, which would arrive in half an hour, and that the police would take control of the situation using these water canons.

36.THINH, VIETNAMESE COMMUNITY LEADER

CAPTION:

Ngyuen Do Thinh

Vietnamese Community Leader


There was no sign of protection for us, they left us all  alone with the riots. What could we have done against it? A few of my people came up with an idea and said we can do what they do and equip ourselves with sticks and guard the door in case something happens, but I said it wouldn't make sense because if we provoke them everything will be lost.

37.RICHTER


When the water canons hadn't arrived after three quarters of an hour, I went to see the Chief of Operations outside, and told him that Trotnow had said the water canons would arrive, and he told me quite sharply that Trotnow knew very well that - that this was nonsense because the drivers had only been sent off from Rostock at 10 pm to go and pick up the water canons from Schwerin, and then they would have to return, and therefore the water canons wouldn't arrive before 1.30 am, and in fact they arrived at 2 am.

NARRATOR 


Normally the water cannon were stationed in Rostock however the week before the riots the water cannon were moved by the Interior Ministry to Schwerin, over two hours drive away. 

38.RICHTER


Both these water canons used up their water very quickly, without any effect and they had to be withdrawn. I rang Trotnow once more, and told him that the rioters were attacking the house with twice as much anger, as they had now been successful in beating back the water canons. He told me almost rudely, "You know, Herr Richter, on a Saturday night I can't reach anyone at the Schwerin Ministry of the Interior any more."

39.OLE

CAPTION:

Ole,

Rioter


Well I had never hit a pig before, but I was pleased that I did that day. It was a feeling of victory. He was on the bridge, the one we defended, and for a few hours there was nothing they could do - it was really great, I thought.

40.KORDUS

CAPTION:

Siegfried Kordus

Chief Of Police

Rostock


More police right from the beginning didn't correspond with the estimation of the situation, and it's difficult to get special police squads at the weekends.

NARRATOR 


Police did not raise the city wide alarm until 3am Sunday morning.

41.CARSTEN, ANTI-FASCIST 

CAPTION:

Carsten

Rostock Anti-fascist 


You could see that the police weren't really interested or had no effective plan for taking serious action against the riots so it was already clear on the Saturday that it would go on somehow and our only hope was that we had to think about how we could defend ourselves.

NARRATOR 


The Verfassungsschutz is an internal intelligence service which was set up after the war. Its task is to protect the German constitution and investigate political extremism.

CAPTION:

Herr Seidel

Chief of Verfassungsschutz

Mecklenburg Vorpommern

42.HERR SEIDEL VERFASSUNGSSCHUTZ 


The riots in Rostock developed very spontaneously out of a citizen's protest in front of the asylum seeker's hostel. 


Then some, very few, agitators from the right-wing extremist scene took over the leadership. There is no sign of any organisation of the riots over several days.

CAPTION:

Public Lecture on Right Wing Extremism, November 1992


From the 3rd day onwards, there was a considerable number of tourists coming to Mecklenburg-Vorpommern and Rostock.

NARRATOR -


Reports claiming the presence of Neo-Nazi leaders in Lichtenhagen filled the German Press. These included members of the GDNF an international network, stretching through from, Germany, Austria to England and the USA, dedicated to the support and foundation of new fascist groups.


Christian Worch Leader of the National Liste.


Ingo Hasselbach-Pfannschmidt, Oliver Schweigert, Frank Lutz From the East Berlin Militant Nazi scene.


Ewald Althans A leading figure in theGDNF 


Thomas Dienel Organiser of militant training.


Norbert Weidner  Leading figure of the fascistic Free Workers Party.


And Many others. There were several sightings of Christian Worch on the Sunday. However it would appear that the others came after Monday to claim it for propaganda purposes.

43.KORDUS

CAPTION:

Siegfried Kordus

Chief Of Police

Rostock


We have established a special department here in the Regional Crime Authority, called 'Extrem', similar to Sokorex in Sachsen and we've  registered 554 offences with racist motivation and we're processing these.


We have not yet identified right-wing extremist structures. I say not yet quite deliberately, because I believe that one can only make further progress in this area through  repressive measures.

NARRATOR 

IN VOICE OVER AND CAPTION:


"Leaflets calling for the extermination of foreigners and the beating up of the Vietnamese were found throughout the city. The people responsible for the organisation amongst hooligans in Rostock are known to the Police.


Trends today show a higher level of organisation due to clever planning police have been unable to intervene legally."


Siegfried Kordus, Rostock's Chief of Police. March 1992

44.KILIMANN

CAPTION:

Klaus Kilimann

Mayor Of Rostock


Certainly. We have an overview, as we have "streetworkers" who know where and how the groups of right-wing extremists operate, particularly in the skinhead scene.

45.HERR SEIDEL, VERFASSUNGSSCHUTZ 

Herr Seidel

Chief of Verfassungsschutz

Internal intelligence service

Mecklenburg Vorpommern


It must not happen, and this is a serious warning, that Skinhead and other militant neo-nazis are seen by the population, as providing law and order. The question arises whether we have returned to the point when only a "strong man" can solve these problems and when democracy has failed as a social system, as recently, more and more right-wing intellectuals maintain. So even there intellectuals are found.

46.RAIKRIOTER

CAPTION:

Raik

Rioter


I confess that I was there, it was fun. It was something new, something attractive. We partly made mistakes in the way we treated the foreigners and the police. We should have pushed the politicians more.

47.WERNER

CAPTION:

Werner

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


Well, I thought one knows exactly what they look like, they could be tracked down. Why doesn't anybody do that? I wanted vigorous action by government forces or police. One wishes sometimes to have a sort of dictatorship in politics.

48.ADRIANA MAJCHRZYK

CAPTION:

Adriana Majchrzyk

Human rights foundation 

Rostock


"We wanted rights but we got a right wing state"  and that says it all.

49.MAHLBURG:

CAPTION:

Pastor Fred Mahlburg

Head of Protestant Academy

Rostock


Many people who initiated the change of government in 1989 didn't want a re-unified Germany so fast. They had intended to democratise the GDR by searching for alternatives to both the 'real existing socialism', which had been exposed at its most perverted, and also to the western structures.

50.WOYDT

CAPTION:

Tyark Woydt

Director of Deustche Bank

Rostock


In 1990 people thought that they would always be employed we knew it wouldn't be the case we didn't know either that it would come so drastically so if you see the provisions]


Banks have to make today within two years come definitely from that time where both sides didn't really know what was going on.
and [of course bankers are usually prudent and I thought and lots of colleagues, including myself thought that the consumer business will pick up.


Cars were bought like hell and it was a big business for everyone and lots of people thought that the car was a also a certain security which after all it wasn't.

51.THINH, VIETNAMESE COMMUNITY LEADER

CAPTION:

Ngyuen Do Thinh

Vietnamese Community Leader


I've been here since 1982, because of the governmental contract between the former GDR and Vietnam which means I was an employee by contract. I should have gone home after five years but because of my good command of German I could apply to stay longer and I was accepted. After that they sent me to Stendal, to work as an interpreter for a group of Vietnamese working at a Nuclear Power Station and then the change of regime happened in 1989.

52.WERNER


I had a job, and we had a lot more security, it wasn't great, but it was secure, and that's what most people don't have any more.

53.MAHLBURG

CAPTION:

Pastor Fred Mahlburg

Head of Protestant Academy

Rostock


People from the East are often told by people from the West that now they would have to roll their sleeves up and learn how to work properly. We are given the advice that it is  better we forget about those decades of GDR failure, our biography.

54.COUPLE IN STREET.

Lichtenhagen Estate Residents

MAN

 
I'm working in Hamburg too now. I know how one is treated there. The East Germans in the West are sometimes treated worse than foreigners.

INTERVIEWER


Do you think you are East German asylum seekers in West Germany?

WOMAN


Yes, and that won't change in a hurry.

55.MARFALDA

CAPTION:

Marfalda

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident

We can't simply say "you all have to put up with it now". We were brought up differently. We have different problems than the West Germans, and somehow we have to find reconciliation. If we have the chance we should say that to each other openly, but it's not possible.

56.) WOYDT 


In the beginning it was a much easier, there was a spirit of pioneer but the last twelve months were very difficult for all of us. We have taken over lots of people in 90 and 91 and those that cannot be adjusted and educated professionally, we have to separate and we have to look for alternatives by good social welfare plans. And everywhere in the new estates it will take quite some time to really come to an integration.

57.MARFALDA


When I look at politics I think a lot of decisions are for financial reasons and claims for power.

We were not united but we were taken over, that's what I think. It is just about money.

CAPTION: SUNDAY 23 AUGUST 1992. 14.00-22.00

58.CARSTEN

CAPTION:

Carsten

Rostock Anti Fasicist


People gathered again shouting racist slogans and in spite of this there was the same situation that not enough police were deployed to prevent serious rioting.

59.RICHTER


The police had withdrawn at about 6 pm and immediately afterwards the rioters attacked number 19 the Vietnamese home.

60.MARFALDA


There are no doubt right radicals in Rostock. We know that too. But during the days of the riots we watched cars with number plates from different regions, from Wiesbaden, Bielefeld, or wherever.


I am convinced that the right-wing youth here were used by ringleaders from the West German counties who are part of the scene and have experience, they guided actions and whipped up emotions.

61.DAVID

CAPTION:

David

Rioter


I mean there were a lot of right radicals who just wanted violence. Unfortunately one must say that there are a lot of right radicals who have no brains but fortunately there are also people who have brains and lead these actions and create strategies.

62. RICHTER


They smashed the windows, forcing their way into the building, and reaching several floors up.

63.DAVID


I went up to the second floor of the house, just to have a look and I couldn't get any further because of the police but I didn't see anybody, but I saw how much crap was in there and that was enough for me.

INTERVIEWER

 
What would you have done if you saw someone?

DAVID
A Difficult question.

INTERVIEWER
Were you really looking for somebody?

DAVID
Yes sure you would have gone up to someone and hit them, but if you like I wouldn't have attacked anyone alone.

64.CARSTEN


When the Nazis first forced their way into the Vietnamese hostel at about a quarter to seven, and managed to get to the second floor, the police drove the people out, but didn't arrest anyone.

65.THINH


People apparently saw a man in a green shirt at a window throw an object and then they said, we must go up there, get hold of the Vietnamese guy and arrest him. At the same time they arrested a right-wing extremist, or rioter. They pulled the Vietnamese guys head back by his hair and his pulled his hands from behind so that he had to look upwards so that everyone could see what a Vietnamese criminal looks like. And they let the German youth stand there normally. Later they found out that it wasn't him that had thrown an object.

66.WERNER

CAPTION:

Werner

Lichtenhagen Estate Resident


I remembered some TV programmes in the past when things like that happened in what was West Germany. And suddenly the same things were happening in front of my house!

67.RICHTER

CAPTION:

Wolfgang Richter

Foriegners Commissioner

Rostock City Council


The situation on the grass was getting more serious, similar to Saturday evening, stones were thrown and Molotov cocktails, but this time a lot more police were there, so that numbers 18 and 19, that is the central reception centre and the Vietnamese hostel, were protected.

68.WERNER


I went on to my balcony, not just as a spectator, I felt distressed. Then I went back down there again, I went down for myself, I wanted to hear what the people were saying, and how they reacted. Basically they were just slogans, and I realised how much power they had. Then I remembered the Monday demos of 1989. There was also a lot of chanting then, and there was an enormous amount of power in that. But here it was used in a different way, although it attracted a lot of people.

69.DAVID


I felt safe, surrounded by comrades, but I was fed up with the spectators. If they want to watch something, they can go to Yugoslavia, and watch and applaud the war there. They just didn't understand the whole thing.

70.RAIK

CAPTION:

Raik

Rioter


At that moment I didn't care. When I threw stones I knew quite definitely that I could have injured somebody but at that time it didn't matter to me. I'm glad that they didn't catch my arse to be quite honest. But, this episode has been forgotten about already. It wasn't only Lichtenhagen it was also the same in Hoyerswerda and Wismar or anywhere else.]

CAPTION:

Satower Strasse 

Refugee Home 

Rostock

71.MIMI (ENGLISH)

CAPTION:

Mimi

Yugoslavian Refugee


At first I was shocked at this terrible place you know, it is a soldier's house. Especially in this barracks they live a poor life. Poor, I mean in the day they don't have anything to do. No newspapers, no books, no chance to learn the language. Only sleep and eat, like animals.


You know how I feel, I always ask myself how people in concentration camps must have felt, you know. But I don't know why they say that it is a democratic republic, democratic "you can feel free, you can have normal democracy, you can have everything". But you can't have anything. I don't understand why everybody waits, what are they  waiting for. Why do they wait? Another murdered family? Why they wait? What is everybody waiting for. Why don't they give us our documents, and I go to some other place, maybe a friendly country. I don't like to live in this country.

NARRATOR 

CAPTION:

Saturday August 29th 1992

Anti-fascist  Demonstration

Lichtenhagen


Saturday August 29th, the weekend after the riot, 20,000 people from all over Germany came to Lichtenhagen to demonstrate against racism and fascism.

CAPTION:

The Right to Stay For all!


Convoys of demonstrators were held back for over four hours while police carried out extensive searches and ID checks. Roads were blocked and over 3000 police were deployed.


Helicopters were deployed during the demonstration and constantly flew landing then taking off again.

72.STATZKOWSKI SPD

CAPTION:

Manfred Statzkowski

Social Democratic Party

Rostock


I've very serious doubts about this demonstration.

73.BERGER CDU

CAPTION:

Michael Berger

Christian Democratic Union

Rostock


Everyone who goes there, must realize, that there is a real danger that they could be injured.

74.GUNTER AURICH FDP

CAPTION:

Gunter Aurich

Free Democratic Party

Rostock


Because there is a real possibility that the right and left combine forces against the police.

75.MARION HASE PDS

CAPTION:

Marion Hase

German Socialist Party.

Rostock


We called on our members in the city to take part, but there is fear amongst some of them, which you just can't talk those people out of.

76.MIKE


The number of attacks on people in the streets   especially at night, have considerably increased in Rostock after Lichtenhagen. There were attacks on people who look different, on disabled people, as well as on foreigners.

77.KATIA 

CAPTION:

Steffi

Rostock Anti-fascist 


I don't want to show my face because, I don't want to be beaten up because of my opinions.

78.MIMI  

CAPTION:

Mimi

Yugoslavian Refugee


We are afraid to go out too much, of course, they kill people outside. You know the Nazis are everywhere. I am afraid in the train, when my son speaks too loud, I must tell him sssh don't speak loud. They might see you are a stranger here.

79.ANKA (ROMANIAN)

Anka

Romanian Roma Refugee

Since I came to Germany I've worried about getting killed, so does my daughter and my old mother. All the time I'm worried about getting killed.


One week ago I saw how two young people tried to throw a woman out of the train. They threw her shopping out and tried to throw her out too. If the conductor wasn't there, they would have.

80.WERNER


You can easily say, yes, OK, I would always help and drag them away, but I think that if you are actually put in that situation, it's really difficult.

81.MARFALDA


I think it has nothing to do with indifference. You keep reading that people don't care any more. But you can't generalise. I believe that fear was a major factor that played a role here.

CAPTION: SUNDAY 23 AUGUST 22.00-02.00

82.KATIA 


CAPTION:

Steffi

Rostock Anti-fascist 


We helped each other to forget our fear by laughing, it was a strange feeling. Some of us tried to talk to the officer in charge to tell him that we were holding a spontaneous demonstration. After a while, he agreed and even moved his water cannons out of the way. We were sure that the people in the hostel thought thank god other people come who belong to us and sympathise with us. This gave us power. When we and most of the demonstrators wanted to leave the police came. We thought they were taking the piss out of us when they said they are going to arrest us for being a potential danger.

83.KORDUS


I believe that we had to prevent that, and that we had a legal basis for doing so because of the potential aggressive nature of objects that were being carried.


Of course one could say that every respectable car driver has these things in their boot, not me. When 60 set off in close formation, then 33 years of professional experience leads me to suspect that there may be more to it.

84.HEMPEL

CAPTION:

Herr Hempel

Chief of Police Rostock

(Since August 1992)


I must say this briefly, that we arrested more anti.... or shall I say more from the anti racist non-right-radical scene than from the right-radical scene, then that's not true. Actually in Lichtenhagen we didn't arrest a single person from the, let's say autonomen, left scene.

85.KATIA

CAPTION:

Steffi

Rostock Anti-fascist 


I was charged with a breach of the peace and afterwards I had a letter from the public prosecutor that the charge was dropped but not all of us got this letter.

NARRATOR 


These images of Anti-fascists being arrested were syndicated to the world's media. It was reported that 80 rioters were arrested during the night. It was not stated that of these 80 60 were anti-fascists.

86. HERR SEIDEL VERFASSUNGSSCHUTZ 

CAPTION:

Herr Seidel

Chief of Verfassungsschutz

Internal Intelligence Service

Mecklenburg Vorpommern


If the leader of a group X or group Y makes a trip to Rostock, and I am using this word provocatively, that is not a reason to arrest him. You need another reason, either criminal grounds, in terms of the law, or there is a threat to security, otherwise you cannot arrest the man.

NARRATOR 


Since the war the West German government has had extensive legal powers to fight against fascism. Article 86 of the penal code outlaws the production, distribution and collection of fascist propaganda. Under German law it is illegal to make a Hitler Salute.

87.HERR SEIDEL VERFASSUNGSSCHUTZ 

INTERVIEWER


But when Herr Gerhard Andrews, the acting chairman of the fascist VAPO was arrested...

HERR SEIDEL


I don't know him - who was it?

INTERVIEWER


Herr Kuessel's deputy. 

HERR SEIDEL


And he was arrested?

INTERVIEWER


Yes.

HERR SEIDEL


I don't have a list of those arrested.

INTERVIEWER


He distributed leaflets, and was then released.

SEIDEL


Why would you want to arrest him, just for being the deputy leader of an organisation which is not banned? 


You see we're beginning to lose direction and flounder. No matter what his political stance is, it's not punishable.

NARRATOR 


The political response to Lichtenhagen was not to see the causes but the victims as the problem. The Christian Democratic Party stepped up its campaign to change Article 16. The article of the post war constitution that enshrines the right to political asylum in Germany. On the weekend of Lichtenhagen, the Social Democrats, traditionally opposed to any amendment to Article 16, capitulated.

CAPTION: MONDAY 24 AUGUST. 11.00-22.00

88.BEHLICH 

CAPTION:

Astrid Behlich

Socialworker at Vietnamese Home


I was really shocked and depressed when I saw how the hostel looked on Monday. Up to the 6th floor the windows were smashed and our office on the ground floor was full of broken glass.


That it could actually get worse, was  unimaginable for me, especially as I trusted the police a lot.

89.THINH 


During the day the kids were already free,  from 11am on and gathered together in groups around the house so they could have a look at the mess they made the day before. And more and more of them came until 3 pm when all the asylum-seekers were taken away.

NARRATOR 


Herr Kupfer, the Minister for the Interior and Herr Zoellick, the acting mayor that weekend decided that they would not evacuate either the ZAST or the Vietnamese Home.
It was the acting manager of the ZAST who decided independently to evacuate the ZAST at 3pm that afternoon.

90.FRAU BEHLICH

CAPTION:

Astrid Behlich

Socialworker at Vietnamese Home


A Herr Statzkowski came in the office. He introduced himself as a member of the Social Democratic Party. He said he came on behalf of the city council, he had apparently  settled with the security forces, he didn't say 'police', I would say today he said security forces, to act as if the house was empty, to close the windows, draw the curtains and keep it dark.

91.THINH 


We had to act, in such a way, so that people standing outside would not know that there were people inside. The reason he gave us was that it was possible that later on the police might stop protecting this building with the idea that the rioters would probably just leave. And   if we did this it wouldn't be so bad for us. 

92.STATZKOWSKI SPD

CAPTION:

Manfred Statkowski

Social Democratic Party

Rostock


I was personally at the Vietnamese's home. I made them aware that on the basis of statements we had heard from some youth groups intensive attacks were expected. I informed Thinh, who is the Vietnamese spokesman, that he should keep his people away from the windows, stay in their flats and not provoke people by their presence.

93.BEHLICH 


Especially as he came in the name of the city council, I took it for granted, everything was taken care of and that this wouldn't be a mouse trap in the end.

NARRATOR 


At 4pm the Hamburg Police urgently called for extra police forces. Herr Deckert the Rostock Assistant Chief of Police, in charge of Operations, responded surprisingly. He stated "they have left me alone politically"  Who THEY were was unclear, however no extra forces were ordered by Herr Deckert or Herr Kordus.

94.RICHTER 


I tried to get hold of Herr Deckert but  Deckert wasn't in the Police headquarters. I told the people I spoke to there that the Vietnamese were inside the building and that attacks had already been directed against the Vietnamese, and that the police must stay there.

95.BEHLICH 


It was a very depressing mood here in the house sitting here in the dark. There was always the  expectation and hidden glances through the curtains.


More and more people came, and this was very frightening. There was fear, because the crowd gathered slowly. That depressed the people inside the house very much, me as well, I have to say. 

96.THINH 


It started already at 7 pm, when I looked down I just saw fire, Molotov cocktails, and  sort of small fire rockets. When I watched from the balcony I thought it was much more serious than during the previous nights. Because, first there was an organized wave and second one could clearly foresee that they will set fire to the building.

97.ADRIANA MAJCHRZYK 

CAPTION:

Adriana Majchrzyk

Human rights foundation 

Rostock


I saw teenagers holding stones, and a small takeaway food stall "Happy Happy at Api's" was open and provided the crowd with curried sausage & beer and a few middle-aged people stood in the back row and they all cheered each time a stone was thrown.

 
I've never experienced so much hatred in all my life. 

98.RICHTER 


I arrived at the hostel at about 8.30.


There were still police there, but not between the rioters and the building. At the junction in front of the Sunflower house there were heavy confrontations going on between the police and the rioters and in no way could the situation have calmed down at that moment in time.

99.KORDUS 

INTERVIEWER
At first it was quiet that evening, on the Monday?

KORDUS
Yes.

INTERVIEWER
Compared to the other days?

KORDUS
 Yes.

INTERVIEWER
Wasn't there any information then, from your investigations, that the situation could explode?

CAPTION:

Siegfried Kordus

Chief Of Police

Rostock

Copa deional Crime department, we made our own inquiries locally, we were in contact with the internal intelligence service, the Verfassungsschutz, the results of these inquiries were precisely nil.

NARRATOR 


At 8.05 Herr Deckert ordered the Hamburg Police to withdraw all forces. The Hamburg police called six times to confirm the order and withdrew.

100.KUPFER 

CAPTION:

Lothar Kupfer

The Interior Minister

Mecklenburg Vorpommern

Regional Government

INTERVIEWER
It was said that you left the scene in order to change your shirt?

KUPFER
This was just an expression. I was, on that Monday evening and this I would like to say, there's nothing to hide. Up to 8pm in Rostock in a TV studio, at a time of considerable silence I went home. I live half way between Rostock and Schwerin but closer to Rostock. I could be contacted continuously,  via mobile phone in my car and at home. I made a lot of phone calls and when I got to know about the escalation of the actions at... 9.45pm... I, of course, immediately returned to Rostock. I was back on the spot in the Police headquarters before midnight.

NARRATOR 


Mecklenburg Police arrive at 8pm, ready to take over the police shift but they are ordered not to take their forces to Lichtenhagen. The Commanding Officer was told by Herr Deckert "there is a ceasefire".

101.RICHTER 


From there I noticed that the youths on the grass,  who had begun by shouting and jeering were now throwing stones and attacking this building from all sides as there were no more police there, because of this I went down to the porter and after 9 pm I telephoned the police station in Luetten Klein again.

102.FRAU BEHLICH 


I thought it was very... to hear the people scream "Germany for the Germans", it was terrible, it hurt me very much, well, it was a terrible situation, and then the fear came,

103.RAIK

INTERVIEWER
Did you know that there were still Vietnamese people in the building?

RAIK
Of course.

INTERVIEWER
because it is often said that....

RAIK
Yes, there were some in there, I knew that

104.RICHTER


At that time the rioters had already broken the glass in the front door. I tried to explain that the rioters were about to raid the building, that they were forcing their way in and had thrown Molotov cocktails, and that there was a fire already on the lower floors, and that police and fire brigades were urgently needed in order to protect us.


He asked me several times whether the fire was bad enough that the fire brigade would have to come, and he didn't appear to realise the gravity of the situation in any way.


Then I put the phone down because I knew that once the glass of the front door was broken, the rioters would be in the building, and I didn't want to confront them directly at the front door.

105.DAVID

CAPTION;

David

Rioter

INTERVIEWER
Suppose burning asylum seekers came out of the house, would you think that you had reached your aim and got what you wanted?

DAVID
Of course one would have clapped hands, but deep inside one would have felt sympathetic, no you can't really say sympathetic just a bit of regret, oh he's burning now and going to die but on the other hand you would have the feeling that, its a foreigner, good at least we got one.

NARRATOR 


Mr Krancke, a Police radio operator in Luetten Klein on duty that night heard and wrote down in his log 5 demands from the rioters:


1. The Police to withdraw.


2. A police car with loudspeaker to announce intentions to the crowd.


3. To look inside the Refugee Reception Centre.


4. A free passage home.


5. Meeting with Commanding Police Officers at a newspaper kiosk.

There is no evidence that police agreed to these demands however they did withdraw, in effect they met the first demand.

There was a common belief in the German Press that the ineffective policing was due to incompetent East Germans. West Germans in the East often see themselves as Pioneers bringing Western values and expertise to the New Lands. Many of the men with unelected posts in the Ministry of the Interior in Schwerin, came from other similar posts in West Germany.


Herr Lambrecht, responsible for security in the Ministry of the Interior made the decision of moving the Water Canon from Rostock to Schwerin. He also failed to release 3 million Marks of new police equipment until Tuesday 25th August, after the homes had burned. 


The acting Chief of Police in Rostock, a man from the West was far from incompetent. His background is in politically motivated crime, he was involved in investigations into Baader Meinhof and lectured on right wing extremism at the Police Academy. The foreign press implied he was sacked, in fact he became Chief of Criminal Investigations.

106.FRAU BEHLICH 


It was for us as if we were completely left alone, there wasn't any police or the fire brigade. The Vietnamese said we should go up from one floor to the next  and only if there is no other option we will defend our wives, children and our lives.

107.THINH 


Behind this wooden door there was a door with metal bars, which was the connecting door to the ZAST. As this was locked, we had to use crowbars. I had stood in front of it for a moment and thought, this is it, this is the end.


The security men from the ZAST came up to where we were, and told us that the rioters had already thrown Molotov cocktails into the lower floors, and that it was completely on fire downstairs. There are two staircases, and we thought we should take our position there as it was the best place for us to defend ourselves. 

108.CARSTEN 
We had split up, to make sure that the Nazis couldn't come up using the lift. We blocked the lift so it was out of order, and we took positions in the staircases and corridors so that the Nazis couldn't come up behind us.


When we noticed that the Nazis and the fire were  coming up, we withdrew.


Four of us managed to get up to the roof and we saw that all the doors were locked. It took ages, well, it felt like ages to me, to break down the roof hatch in the Vietnamese hostel. 


When we broke open the door, we saw the light in the lift shaft. As it was not possible to get through without a gas mask, we made a detour and fought through the smoke with wet cloths over our faces, and we showed the people how to escape via the roof.

109.THINH 


It was dark there was no light there, each man stood a metre apart, and passed the children on from one man to the next.

110.FRAU BEHLICH 


We were very very frightened,if they came now, they would just throw us from the roof.

111.CARSTEN


We searched the whole roof top, and checked all the hatches, to find out which was the most loose to gain access to the other staircases - to at least have an escape route down from the roof.

112.THINH


There were still some people missing. So I went back down again, but this time I could only reach the 10th floor. It wasn't possible to go any further, I could hardly breathe.

113.CARSTEN

CAPTION:

Carsten

Rostock Anti-fascist 


We went back into number 19 and looked for the other people - we were there for about 10 minutes, but we just couldn't find them.


The disabled security man, we had thought that he was a goner. We knew which room he was in but we couldn't get to it, because there were flames in front of it. 


When we were on the roof, we lay flat on our stomachs, because we noticed that we were being watched from the roofs of other buildings. Then we saw below us about 3,000,people, who were constantly shouting, clapping and shouting "foreigners out" and we had to stay there and there was nothing we could do.


At that point it was all the same to me, whether we jumped or stayed there.

NARRATOR 


As the hostel burned, 450 police were present in the area around Lichtenhagen. People inside the Vietnamese hostel were unable to contact these police despite many frantic telephone calls. Eventually they contacted they Berlin Police 200km away to ask for help.

114.THINH 


Gradually we crawled along the roof top and then went down through the hatch. I tried at first to speak to some of the families. First of all the families in number 13. A few of them looked at us with pity.

115.BEHLICH 


I just rang the bells at every flat I said at every door who I was. Only on the 6th floor did somebody open their door and let the women with the babies into the flat.

116.THINH 


I knocked on some people's doors, and asked for help, and some people didn't open their doors at first. A few did open their doors but didn't allow us in and they asked "What do you want here?". We said that we have had to escape and then they said, "No, their flat is too small".

117.BEHLICH 


It was terrible and there was some despair, because what was happening there, was to be seen by all and nobody could sleep anyway. Somewhere there was the indifference, which... I mean when one or two finally acted courageously, some other people did as well.

118.THINH 


I watched how the buses arrived, and how the police formed a kind of passageway. None of the people who stood behind the row of police showed any sympathy, and I thought something is missing. I couldn't believe that the Lichtenhagen people hadn't realised how far things had gone. I had honestly expected in my heart that they would have been sympathetic, but this was not the case.

119.BEHLICH 


They lead us into the buses and we drove away without knowing the destination. I went with them and at Schutower Ring a car was waiting, they were driving beside the bus, they wound down their window and shouted words like "you pigs, we're gonna get you", and they chased after us. Then the Vietnamese, the pregnant women and the children sat down on the floor so that the bus looked empty.

120.CARSTEN 


Then I got out of the building and walked through Lichtenhagen. I couldn't think any more, it was all too much. I was outside then, everything was over, we were out of the house, and there was nothing there any more, no thoughts were left. It was like that for many days afterwards, one saw and heard the images and the shouting, it was like psychological terror, it was such a nightmare that I couldn't sleep for days.

121.KUPFER

CAPTION:

Lothar Kupfer

The interior minister

Mecklenburg Vorpommern

Regional Government

INTERVIEWER
Was it just luck that the Vietnamese managed to escape and nobody was killed?

KUPFER
Of course there was the potential danger for the Vietnamese citizens that the lower floors were burning, due to the Molotov cocktails.

INTERVIEWER
Weren't they already in danger? Weren't they in danger?

KUPFER
After offering the emergency services, nobody asked for help and nobody was hurt. One couldn't evaluate the situation on the sixth floor what the damage was like on the lower floors, but relying on the facts, no one was poisoned by the smoke. One has to say there was no acute danger, no one was poisoned by the smoke, no one was hurt.

122. HERR SEIDEL VERFASSUNGSSCHUTZ 

CAPTION:

Herr Seidel

Chief of Verfassungsschutz

Internal intelligence service

Mecklenburg Vorpommern


I can't send a member of our staff into the middle of the crowd with a video camera and make them film it. He would never get out alive. 

123.OBERSTAATSANWALT 

Herr Sabine

State Prosecutor

Rostock

November 1992


The first conclusion I came to is that it was unfortunately not possible to find the organisers, or the people who threw Molotov cocktails into the buildings where the Vietnamese lived. There isn't any video footage which provides enough evidence to convict these people. That is the biggest shortcoming of these investigations, the police were not able to secure evidence, we just don't have it. 

CAPTION:

Wednesday 26th August 1992

124.THINH 

CAPTION:

Ngyuen Do Thinh

Vietnamese Community Leader


There was no air, no daylight, nothing. The whole day we just cowered together in the Sports hall, in the darkness, with nothing to do, that was terrible.

125.ZOELLICK 

CAPTION;

Herr Zoellick

Acting Mayor of Rostock

22nd-24th August 1992


We made every effort to ensure the appropriate care and provisions in their new accommodation.

126.THINH 


Then Herr Zoellick came, the deputy mayor of Rostock and said " what do you mean, food supplies, where are we supposed to get the money for that from. We'll keep the doors to your building open, and you can move back in there straight away". And in those conditions! He said that the Senate had no money for food supplies.

127.ZOELLICK 


We know that for many of you it is very difficult. But I must say very clearly that at this moment we have no other option but to keep you all together. That is the only possibility to protect all of you effectively.

128.THINH 


It was obvious to me that we were left to our own devices. I thought that we must find a safer place to stay, but we had to wait for the authorities, because if we decided to do anything of our own accord and it went wrong, then it would be our fault again, and not the state's.

129.ZOELLICK 


I only want to say, we stay with you, the Council and many many people of Rostock. We all hope that the situation will be ended soon. I beg you again, it is in the interest of your own security even when it is inconvenient, that you all stay together. That is what I would like to say to you. All the best to you. Goodbye and I hope you will stay here and that it is soon all over.

NARRATOR 


Neighbours of the Vietnamese received one months  rent free compensation. The Vietnamese received no compensation or rent free period. They currently face deportation.

130.THINH


I think that the best compensation would be the granting of permanent residency for us all and an end to the deportations.

END

